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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report together with the audited financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2024, which disclose the state of affairs of BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company

Plc (“the Company™).
1. INCORPORATION

BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company PLC is domiciled in Rwanda where it is incorporated as a company
limited by shares under the law n°® 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 governing companies in Rwanda. The address of
the registered office is set out on page 1.

2. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company PLC was registered in September 2018 and its principal activity is to
provide a range of financial services responsibly to people at the bottom of the pyramid.

3. RESULTS

2024 2023

Frw Frw
Loss before income tax (2,311,027,840) (3,309,874,742)
Income tax expense - -
Loss after income tax (2,311,027,840) (3,309,874,742)
Other comprehensive income = -
Total comprehensive loss (2,311,027,840) (3,309,874,742)

4, DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend payment of dividends for the year ended 31 December 2024 (31
December 2023: Nil).

5. RESERVES

The reserves of the Company are set out on page 11.

6. DIRECTORS

The Directors who served during the year and to the date of this report are as shown on page 1.
7. AUDITOR

The auditor, PricewatehouseCoopers Rwanda Limited have expressed willingness to continue in office as
per the law n°® No. 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 governing companies in Rwanda.

The Directors have the power to amend and re issue these financial statements

By order of the Board

Bir.e.‘c’t'onr'”ll"”l.“”"““. ............h-au;-.c}:;inonzugnnt--
Shameran Abed
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

The Company's Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair
view of BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company PLC as set out on pages 9 to 60 which comprise the statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and
cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of
Material accounting policies and other explanatory information, in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and in a manner required by Law No 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 governing
companies in Rwanda.

The Directors accept responsibility for the annual financial statements, which have been prepared using
appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates, inconformity
with Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by Law No. 007/2021 of05/02/2021
governing companies in Rwanda. The Directors are of the opinion that the financialstatements give a true and
fair view of the state of the financial affairs of the Company and its operatingresuits.

The Directors have made an assessment of the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern based
on the continued investments by shareholders into the Company which has seen the branch network grow to
34 over the last five years. Additional capital received in the year was Frw 3,292,987,000 and there is
commitment for a further Frw 1,819,000,000 which will not only enable the Company meet its obligations but
also continue with its growth plan in 2025 and a breakeven is expected in the next one years. The Company
has also been able to secure Frw 2,490,000,000 of grants and Frw. 1,500,000,000 of borrowing which will be
utilised in the course of the year. Based on these, the Directors are of the view the that the business will remain
a going concern in the years ahead. Furthermore, the Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties that
may cast significant doubt upon the company's ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the
financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis.

The independent auditors are responsible for expressing an opinion on whether the financial statements give a
true and fair view of the company's financial position and performance as at and for the year ended 31
December 2024.

Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements of BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company PLC, as identified in the first paragraph,
were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 2025 and were signed on its
behalf by:

P 4

Wy

‘?-.
Chief Executive Officer
Upoma Antara Husain

5iractor Director {/ .
Shameran Abed Johannes Maria Anton\iis/E}s
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF BRAC RWANDA
MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc (the “Company”) financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2024, and of its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International FinancialReporting
Standards and the requirements of Law No. 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 Governing Companies.

What we have audited

The Company's financial statements as set out in pages 9 to 60 comprise:
* the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,

the statements of comprehensive income;

the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of Material accounting
policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the auditof the financial
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA code.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial statements of the current period. The matter below was addressed in the context of our audit
of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not providea separate
opinion on the matter.
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF BRAC RWANDA
MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

Other information

Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Corporate
Information, report of the directors, Statement of directors' responsibilities, which we obtained prior to
the date of this auditor's report, and the other information that will be included in the annual report which
is expected to bemade available to us after that date, but does not include the financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the other information that will be included in the annual report, if we conclude that there
is material misstatement there in, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of Law No.
007/2021 of 05/02/2021 Governing Companies, and for such internal control as directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or
tocease operations, or has no realistic altérnative but to do so.

Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
arefree from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate,they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professionalscepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e ——— |
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF BRAC RWANDA
MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

¢ |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing anopinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to eventsor
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained upto the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions andevents
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF BRAC RWANDA
MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Law No. 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 Governing Companies as amended by Law No. 019/2023 of
30/03/2023 requires that in carrying out our audit we consider and report to you on the following
matters. We confirm that:

i.  Inour opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Company, so far as appears from
our examination of those books;

ii. We have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and
belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit;

ii. We have no relationships, no interests and debt in the Company; and

iv.  Inour opinion according to the best of the information and explanations given to us as shown by
the accounting and other documents of the Company, the financial statements comply with Article
125 of Law No. 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 Governing Companies as amended by Law No. 019/2023
of 30/03/2023.

For PricewaterhouseCoopers Rwanda Limited, Kigali.

% Nt..xx.

Brian Ngunijiri |

April 2025
Director
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Notes 2024 2023
Frw Frw
Interest income on loans 19 2,660,600,567 1,826,659,333
Interest & other financial expenses 20 (868,532,886) (992,800,833)
Net interest income 1,792,067,681 833,858,500
Membership and other fees 21 56,129,000 42,809,000
Net foreign exchange (loss)/income 23 92,883,915 367,016,978
Other income 22 67,353,078 108,443,595
Grant income 24 1,431,557,286 909,750,812
1,647,923,279 1,428,020,385
Total operating income 3,439,990,960 2,261,878,885
Expected credit losses 25 (350,120,888) (136,851,199)
f.)peratmg income after impairment 3,089,870,072 2,125,027,686
0sses
Employee benefits 26 (2,676,385,877) (2,462,438,165)
Other operating expenses 27 (2,336,816,343) (2,585,683,727)
Depreciation & amortization 28 (387,695,692) (386,780,536)
Total operating cost (5,400,897,912) (5,434,902,428)
Loss before income tax (2,311,027,840) (3,309,874,742)
Income tax expense 34 - -

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

(2,311,027,840)

(3,309,874,742)

(2,311,027,840)

(3,309,874,742)

The notes on pages 13 to 66 are an integral part of these financial statements.

i
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Short term deposit

Loans to customers

Other assets

Derivatives at fair value through profit or

loss
Intangible assets
Property & equipment

Right of use asset
Total Assets

Equity and Liabilities Equity
Equity
Share capital

Other capital contribution

Accumulated losses

Total Equity

Liabilities
Term loan

Member savings
Related party payables
Other liabilities

Donor grants

Lease liability

Total Liabilities

Total Liabilities and Equity

Note

"
11

10
32

31(a)

12
13

14

18
15
30
16
17
31(b)

2024 2023
Frw Frw
748,989,559 3,.914,101,777

. 500,000,000
7,498,030,879 4,528,489,585
200,756,715 164,920,386
433,297,530 919,902,383
92,472,252 e
234,302,762 375,581,746
335,149,208 523,172,312
9,542,998,905 11,081,069,641
8,500,000,000 7.412,070,000
6,203,653,000 3,998,596,000
| (11,587,138,417) (9.276,110,577)
3,116,514,583 2,134,555,423
2,212,779,200 5,730,663,154
2,882,869,894 1.952,558,385
100,715,846 9,860,250
717.713.204 526,665,635
150,839,272 209,196,478
361,566,906 517,570,316
6,426,484,322 8,046,514,218
9,542,998,905 11,081,069,641

The notes on pages 13 to 66 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on .30 March. . 2025

and signed on its behalf by: -

Head of Finance
Md Eyashin Chowdhury

Director
Shameran Abed

10

Director f

cer

...................................................

Chief Executive
Upoma Antara Husain

Johannes Maria’Antonius Eskes
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Note 2024 2023
Frw Frw
Cash flow from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 29 (3,282,013,602) (4,752,112,070)
Net cash used in activities (3,282,013,602) (4,752,112,070)
Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisition of property & equipment 7 (21,085,387) (140,381,200)
Acquisition of intangible asset 8 - (35,720,438)
ROU (right of use) asset 31(a) 18,887,135 (879,474,233)
Short term deposits 500,000,000 (500,000,000)
Net cash used in investing activities 497,801,748 (1,055,575,871)
Term loan receipt (3,517,883,954) 1,875,426,476
Proceeds from Share capital 12 1,087,930,000 2,718,530,000
Lease Liability 31(b) (156,003,410) 247,825,597
Other capital contribution/ receipt/(payment) 2,205,057,000 1,280,066,000
Net cash from financing activities (380,900,364) 6,121,848,073
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (3,165,112,218) 314,160,132
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 3,914,101,777 3,599,941,645
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash ) )
equivalents held
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 11 748,989,559 3,914,101,777

The notes on pages 13 to 66 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

1 Reporting Entity

BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company PLC was registered in September 2018 and its principal activity is
to provide a range of financial services responsibly to people at the bottom of the pyramid.

2 Basis of Preparation
a) Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS"). The measurement basis applied is the historical cost basis, except for fair value through
other comprehensive income investments and loan note at fair value through profit or loss whichhave been
measured at fair value.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise judgement in the process of applying the
Company accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4

b) Comparative information

The comparative information used in this report are audited financial statements of BRAC Rwanda
Microfinance Company PLC for the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

3 Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs and in the manner required by Law No
007/2021 of 05/02/2021 governing companies in Rwanda.

4 Material accounting policies
(a) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
i) New and amended standards effective 1 January 2024

The key new and amended standards and interpretations that have become effective as at the time
of incorporation and for the period preceded has had an effect on the Company's financial statement.

Number Effective date Executive summary

Annual Annual periods beginningThese amendments include minor changes to:
improvements on or after 1 January

cycle 2018 - 2024 e IFRS 1, ‘First time adoption of IFRS' has been amended
2020 for a subsidiary that becomes a first-time adopter after

its parent. The subsidiary may elect to measure
cumulative translation differences for foreign operations
using the amounts reported by the parent at the date of
the parent’s transition to IFRS.

(Published May
2020)

» [FRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments' has been amended to
include only those costs or fees paid between the
borrower and the lender in the calculation of “the 10%
test” for derecognition of a financial liability. Fees paid to
third parties are excluded from this calculation.

13 l'i
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4 Material accounting policies (continued)

(a)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

i) New and amended standards effective 1 January 2024 (continued)

Number

Effective date

Executive summary

« |[FRS 16, ‘Leases’, amendment to the lllustrative
Example 13 that accompanies IFRS 16 to remove the
illustration of payments from the lessor relating to
leasehold improvements. The amendment intends to
remove any potential confusion about the treatment of
lease incentives.

IAS 41, ‘Agriculture’ has been amended to align the
requirements for measuring fair value with those of IFRS
13. The amendment removes the requirement for entities
to exclude cash flows for taxation when measuring fair
value.

Amendments to
IAS 37
Onerous
Contracts—
Cost of
Fulfilling a
Contract

Annual periods
beginning on or
lafter 1 January
2024

(Published May
2020)

The amendment clarifies which costs an entity includes in
assessing whether a contract will be loss-making. This
assessment is made by considering unavoidable costs,
which are the lower of the net cost of exiting the contract
and the costs to fulfil the contract. The amendment clarifies
the meaning of ‘costs to fulfil a contract. Under the
amendment, costs to fulfil a contract include incremental
costs and the allocation of other costs that relate directly to
fulfilling the contract.

Amendments to
IAS 16
Property, Plant
and Equipment:
Proceeds
before Intended
Use

Annual periods
beginning on or
lafter 1 January
2024

(Published May
2020)

The amendment to IAS 16 prohibits an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of PPE any proceeds
received from selling items produced while the entity is
preparing the asset for its intended use (for example, the
proceeds from selling samples produced when testing a
machine to see if it is functioning properly). The proceeds
from selling such items, together with the costs of
producing them, are recognised in profit or loss.

Amendment to IFRS 3,

Asset or liability
iin a business
combination
clarity

Business combinations’

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2022

(Published May
2020)

The Board has updated IFRS 3, 'Business combinations', to
refer to the 2018 Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting, in order to determine what constitutes an asset or
ia liability in a business combination.

In addition, the Board added a new exception in IFRS 3 for
liabilities and contingent liabilities. The exception specifies
that, for some types of liabilities and contingent liabilities, an
entity applying IFRS 3 should instead refer to |AS 37,
'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, or
IFRIC 21, ‘Levies', rather than the 2018 Conceptual
Framework.

The Board has also clarified that the acquirer should not
recognise contingent assets, as defined in [AS 37, at the
lacquisition date
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4

(a)

Material accounting policies (continued)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

ii) New and amended standards issued but not yet effective
Number Effective date Executive summary
IFRS 17, \Annual periods The IASB issued IFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts', and thereby
‘Insurance beginning on or after 1 started a new epoch of accounting for insurers. Whereas the|
contracts’ January 2024 current standard, IFRS 4, allows insurers to use their local
GAAP, IFRS 17 defines clear and consistent rules that will
Early application is ignificantly increase the comparability of financial
permitted for entities that|statements. For insurers, the transition to IFRS 17 will have
pply IFRS 9, ‘Financial fan impact on financial statements and on key performance
Instruments’, and IFRS |indicators.
15, 'Revenue from
Contracts with Under IFRS 17, the general model requires entities to
Customers', at or before |measure an insurance contract at initial recognition at the total
the date of initial of the fulfilment cash flows (comprising the estimated future
application of IFRS 17.  cash flows, an adjustment to reflect the time value of money
and an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk) and the
(Published May contractual service margin. The fulfilment cash flows are
2017) remeasured on a current basis each reporting period. The
unearned profit (contractual service margin) is recognised
over the coverage period.
Aside from this general model, the standard provides, as a
simplification, the premium allocation approach. This
}simpliﬁed approach is applicable for certain types of contract,
including those with a coverage period of one year or less.
For insurance contracts with direct participation features,
the variable fee approach applies. The variable fee
approach is a variation on the general model. When
applying the variable fee approach, the entity’s share of
the fair value changes of the underlying items is included
in the contractual service margin. As a consequence, the
fair value changes are not recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they occur but over the remaining life
of the contract.
IFRS 17, Annual periods In response to some of the concerns and challenges raised,
Insurance beginning on or after 1  the Board developed targeted amendments and a number of
contracts January 2024 proposed clarifications intended to ease implementation of
Amendments IFRS 17, simplify some requirements of the standard and

(Published June 2020)

ease transition. The amendments relate to eight areas of
IFRS 17, and they are not intended to change the
fundamental principles of the standard or unduly disrupt
implementation already underway.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4 Material accounting policies (continued)

(a) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

i) New and amended standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

Amendment to |1AS 1, IAnnual periods The amendment clarifies that liabilities are classified
‘Presentation of Financial beginning on or  fas either current or non-current, depending on the
Statements' on Classification [after 1 January  [rights that exist at the end of the reporting period. A
of Liabilities as Current or 2024 number of requirements are required to be met in
Non-current conjunction with this amendment.

(Published

Jan 2020)
Narrow scope \Annual periods  [The amendments aim to improve accounting policy
amendments to 1AS 1 beginning on or  disclosures and to help users of the financial
‘Presentation of Financial after 1 January  istatements to distinguish changes in accounting
Statements’, Practice 2024. Earlier policies from changes in accounting estimates.
statement 2 and IAS 8 application is
‘Accounting Policies, permitted.
Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors’ (Published

February 2021)

(b) Interest income and Interest expenses

Interest income and expenses for all financial instruments except for those classified as held for trading or those
measured or designated as at FVTPL are recognised in ‘Net interest income’ as ‘Interest income' and ‘Interest
expense' in the profit or loss account using the effective interest method. Interest on financial instruments
measured as at FVTPL is included within the fair value movement during the period. The effective interest rate
(EIR) is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows of the financial instrument through the
expected life of the financial instrument or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset or financial liability.

The future cash flows are estimated taking into account all the contractual terms of the instrument. The
calculation of the EIR includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are
incremental and directly attributable to the specific lending arrangement, transaction costs, and all other
premiums or discounts. For financial assets at FVTPL transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss at initial
recognition. The interest income/ interest expense is calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount
of non-credit impaired financial assets (i.e. at the amortised cost of the financial asset before adjusting for any
expected credit loss allowance), or to the amortised cost of financial liabilities.

For credit-impaired financial assets the interest income is calculated by applying the EIR to the amortised cost of
the credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. the gross carrying amount less the allowance for expected credit losses
(ECLs).

The Company earns fees and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its
customers. Fee income can be divided into the following two categories:
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4 Material accounting policies (continued)

(b) Interest income and Interest expenses (continued)

o Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. Loan
commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are deferred
(together with any incremental costs) and recognized as an adjustment to the EIR on theloan. When it

is unlikely that a loan will be drawn down, the loan commitment fees arerecognized over the commitment
period on a straight-line basis.

« Fees income from providing transaction services. Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the
negotiation of a transaction for a third party, such as the arrangement of the acquisition of shares or
other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses, are recognized on completion of the underlying

transaction. Fees or components of fees that are linked to a certain performance are recognized after
fulfilling the corresponding criteria.

(c) Employee benefits and other operating expenses

Retirement benefit costs

The Company and all its employees contribute to the national social security scheme in Rwanda, which isa
defined contribution scheme. A defined contribution plan is a retirement benefit plan under which the Company
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Company has no legal or constructive obligations to pay
further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees thebenefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior periods. The Company's contributions to thedefined contribution
schemes are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the year in which they fall due.

Other entitlements

The estimated monetary liability for employees accrued annual leave entitlement at the balance sheet
date isrecognized as an expense accrual.

(d) Otherincome

This includes miscellaneous income such as amounts charged for tenders and fees on account closing nof
classified as part of the main revenue items. Other income is recorded in the period it is earned

(e) Financial instruments

Financial assets are assets that are:
e Cash and cash equivalents
e Loans to customers
e  Other assets other than prepayments and statutory receivables

Financial liabilities are all liabilities that are:
e Term loans
= Member savings
o Related party payables
e Other liabilities
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4

(e)

Material accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Recognition of a financial instrument

The company recognises a financial instrument (financial asset, financial liability or equity instrument)
when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. This includes granting a loan to
a customer. It does not include transactions that we have planned but not committed to. Here we have
not become party to a contract requiring the future receipt or delivery of financial assets

Initial classification and measurement of financial assets

On initial recognition, financial assets are classified into one of three measurement categories. This
drivesthe subsequent accounting:

=  Amortised cost;
o Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI"); or
e Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL").

Currently all financial assets are carried at amortized costs.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Directly attributable transaction costs are treated
as follows:

» Added to the amount of initially recognized, for assets classified at amortized cost and FVOCI
» Immediately recognized in the P&L, for assets classified at FVTPL

Key judgements considered when classifying financial debt instruments (loans to customers,
trade andother receivables),

The business models

To be able to classify financial assets, the company needs to identify the objective of the business
modelin which the asset is held. This could be:

s Held-to-collect — typically involving the lowest level of sales (in frequency and volume)
compared to other business models.

e Both held to collect and for sale — typically involving more sales (in frequency and volume) than
the held-to-collect business model.

s Other business models — if the collection of contractual cash flows is incidental to the objective
ofthe model.

The business model is determined at a level that reflects the way you manage groups of
financial assets together to achieve a particular business objective. It does not depend on
your intentions for an individual instrument. The business model is typically observable
through particular activities that you undertake to achieve the objectives of the business
model.

Testing the SPPI (Solely Payments of Principal and Interest) criteria determining whether the asset's
contractual cash flows are solely principal and interest (the SPPlcriterion) will be a matter of
significant judgement. The company will consider:

Contractual provisions that change contractual cash flows — e.g. variable interest
rates,prepayment features and term extension features;
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES

TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4

Material accounting policies (continued)

(e) Financial instruments (continued)

Initial classification and measurement of financial assets (continued)

The business models (continued)

L]

De minimis or non-genuine features — features that will only have a de minimis effect on cash
flows, or that are unlikely to occur;

Non-recourse and limited recourse assets — contractual cash flows described as principal and
interest but that do not represent payment of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding; or

Contractually linked instruments — circumstances in which payment is prioritized to the holders of

mu

Itiple contractually linked instruments that create concentrations of credit risk.

Directly attributable transaction costs

Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of financial assets, except for those
measured at FVTPL.

Transaction costs include only those costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or origination
of the financial asset. They are incremental costs that would not have been incurred if the instrument
had not been acquired, originated or issued. These include, for example, fees and commission paid to
agents, advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities exchanges,
transfer taxes and duties, credit assessment fees and registration charges and similar costs.

Subsequent measurement — Amortized cost

Amortized cost is calculated using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. This allocates interest
income at a constant rate over the period to which it relates, regardless of when it is paid.

The following items are recognized in the income statement:

Wh

Interest income using the effective interest method
Expected credit losses and reversals
Foreign exchange gains and losses

en the financial asset is derecognized, any gain or loss is recognized in the income statement.

Effective interest rate

The effective interest rate is calculated on initial recognition of a financial asset. It is the rate
that discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. On initial recognition this will
usually be equal to the fair value of the instrument, adjusted for transaction costs.

The estimate of expected cash flows considers all contractual terms (e.g. prepayment, call
and similar options) but does not consider expected credit losses.

To

calculate the interest charge for the relevant period, the effective interest rate is applied

to the gross carrying amount of the asset at the previous reporting date.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4

(e)

Material accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Initial classification and measurement of financial assets (continued)

Most financial liabilities are classified in the amortized cost measurement category.
Financial liabilities may be classified as fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL") in some rare
scenarios.

All financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Directly attributable transaction costs are
deducted from the amount initially recognized. An exception exists for financial liabilities at FVTPL,
which are measured at fair value with transaction costs immediately recognized in the income
statement.

Subsequent to initial measurement:

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value with changes included in the income
statement, except for changes in own-credit risk presented in OCI for liabilities designated under the
fair value option.

Other financial liabilities are generally measured at amortised cost following the guidance in section.
However, financial liabilities represent your contractual obligation to pay and so will never include a
loss allowance.

Modification of financial assets and liabilities

If a debt instrument is restructured or refinanced and the terms have been substantially modified, the
transaction must be accounted for as an extinguishment of the old debt instrument, with a gain or loss
recognised in the P&L. The new debt instrument is recognised at fair value.

Impairment of financial assets

Most financial assets are subject to impairment testing under the expected loss model. It is not necessary for
a loss event to occur before an impairment loss is recognised. Any impairment loss allowance is recognised
in the income statement.

Expected credit losses

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments requires the Company to recognise expected credit losses (‘ECL") on
loans tocustomers which involves significant judgement and estimates.

The key areas where we identified greater levels of management judgement and therefore increased
levels ofaudit focus in the Company's implementation of IFRS 9 are:

— Model estimations — inherently judgemental modelling is used to estimate ECL which involves
determining probabilities of default (“PD"), loss given default (“LGD"), and exposures at default (“EAD").
The PD model used for loans and advances is the key driver of the Company's ECL results and are
thereforethe most significant judgemental aspect of the ECL modelling approach.

Expected credit loss is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of a financial
asset using all reasonable and supportable information available about past events and current
conditions supplemented by forecasts of future economic conditions. The macro-economic overlay
involves a p0|nt-|n-t|me assessment of the impact of expected macro-economic developments on the credit
losses.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4

(e)

Material accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Expected credit losses (continued)

Defaulted loans are labelled stage 3 exposures. The non-defaulted loans are either stage 1 or stage 2,
dependingon whether credit risk significantly increased since inception. Such deterioration would bring
the loan fromstage 1, for which 12 Month ECL provision are required, to stage 2, for which lifetime
ECL needs to be calculated. The introduction of ECL provisioning results in the need to develop specific
ECL methodologiesand to adopt policies dealing with amongst others stage transfers and the
incorporation of macro-economicoverlays.

The standard includes various practical expedients that can be used in specific situations, and reliefs
adoptersfrom using the general impairment requirements. Examples are investments with low credit
risk (e.g. investment grade securities), for which different stage transfer monitoring applies, and a
simplified approachfor trade receivables and lease receivables.

IFRS 9 allows for a simplified approach to be applied to trade receivables, contract assets and lease
receivables; the accounting policy choice can be made independently for each asset type. Under the
simplifiedapproach, the loss allowance is always equal to the lifetime expected credit losses.

The company has elected to use the practical expedients when measuring ECLs under the simplified
approachby using a provision matrix for trade receivables. In doing so, the company has:

* Considered whether itis appropriate to segment trade receivables; and/or

» Use historical loss experience on its trade receivables and adjust historical loss rates to reflect
information about current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future economic
conditions.

The simplified approach has been elected as appropriate due to the fact that all loans to customers
have aloan term of 12 months and 6 months.

Forward looking information (FLI)

The company incorporates forward-looking information into both the assessment of whether the credit
risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and the measurement of
ECL. This is done by taking into account forecasted economic conditions by applying both expert
judgement and also deploying models that link the performance of the macro economy to the
probability of default (PD) exposure at default (EAD), and loss given default (LGD). Forecasts are
developed usinga probability weighted scenario-based approach to ensure that the asymmetry of the
various economic outcomes is captured in the estimation of ECL,

The company has concluded that three (3) scenarios appropriately capture the non-linearities. The
three scenarios that were applied as at 31 December 2024 are:

e Base line scenario;
 Upside scenario;
« Downside scenario

A base case is the central scenario, developed internally based on consensus forecasts, and two
lesslikely scenarios, one upside and one downside scenario. The central scenario is aligned with the
available macro-economic information. External information considered includes economic data and
forecasts published by governmental,
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4 Material accounting policies (continued)

(f) Impairment of non-financial assets

For all assets, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that
previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication
exists, the Company estimates the asset's or CGU's recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment
loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset's recoverable
amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.

(g) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost or valuation, excluding the costs of day to day servicing, less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment in value.

The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost, any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset into operation, the initial estimate of the decommissioning obligation and for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs.

The purchase price or construction cost is the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other
consideration given to acquire the asset. Residual value, useful life and depreciation methods are reviewed at
least annually at the reporting date. Changes in the residual value and expected useful life are accounted for by
changing the depreciation charge for the year, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. An item of
property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the income statement in
the year the asset is derecognized.

On revaluation, surplus is credited to the property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve, except to the
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income, in which case the increase is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. A
revaluation deficit is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income, except to the extent that it offsets
an existing surplus on the same asset recognized in the property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve.

An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retained earnings is made.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have significantly different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment. Although individual components are
accounted for separately, the financial statements continue to disclose a single asset.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC NOTES
TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) '
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4

(h)

(i)

Material accounting policies (continued)

Property and equipment (continued)

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits
associated with theexpenditure will flow to the company.

Depreciation is calculated at annual rates estimated to write off carrying values of the assets over
their expecteduseful lives to their estimated residual values.

The annual depreciation rates in use are:

Rate
Equipments & Machineries 20%
Computer and equipments 33.33%
Furniture and fixtures 10%
Vehicles 20%

Intangible assets

The company's intangible assets include the value of computer software. An intangible asset
is recognizedonly when its cost can be measured reliably and it is probable that the expected
future economic benefits that are attributable to it will flow to the company.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost on initial recognition. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of
acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any
accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be finite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are amortized over the useful life. The amortization period and the amortization method for an
intangible assetwith a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end.
Changes in the expected useful lifeor the expected pattern of consumption of future economic
benefits embodied in the asset are accountedfor by changing the amortization period or
method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization
expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in profit or loss. Amortization is
calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of intangible assets over their
estimated useful lives of 4 years.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense is the aggregate amount charged/ (credited) in respect of current tax
and deferred tax in determining the profit or loss for the year. Tax is recognized in the profit
and loss account except when it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income,
in which case it is also recognized in other comprehensive income, or to items recognized
directly in equity, in which case it is also recognized directly in equity

Current income tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or
loss for the yearand any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous
years. The amount of current taxpayable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount
expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is
measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4

)}

Material accounting policies (continued)
Income tax expense (continued)
Deferred income tax

Deferred tax is determined for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes, using tax
rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and expected
to apply when the asset is recovered or the liability is settled.

Current income tax

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settlethe carrying amount of its assets or liabilities. However, for
investment property that is measured using the fair value model, there is a rebuttable
presumption that the carrying amount of the investment property will be recovered through
sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences except those
arising on the initial recognition of an asset or liability, other than through a business
combination, that at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting nor taxable
profit nor loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which temporary differences can be utilized. Recognized and
unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and, if
appropriate, the recognized amount is adjusted to reflect the extent that it has become
probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settlethe carrying amount of its assets or liabilities. However, for
investment property that is measured using the fair value model, there is a rebuttable
presumption that the carrying amount of the investment property will be recovered through
sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable tempaorary differences except those
arising on the initial recognition of an asset or liability, other than through a business
combination, that at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting nor taxable
profit nor loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which temporary differences can be utilized. Recognized and
unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and, if
appropriate, the recognized amount is adjusted to reflect the extent that it has become
probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4 Material accounting policies (continued)

(k)

Leases

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis.
Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable

variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index

or rateas at the commencement date
amounts expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that

option,and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company
exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included
in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate
cannot be readilydetermined, which is generally the case for leases in the Company, the
lessee's incremental borrowing rateis used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic envirenment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Company where possible, uses recent
third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is
charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following; the amount of the initial
measurement of lease liability plus any lease payments made prior to commencement date,
initial direct costs, and estimated costs of restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the lease, less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and
the lease termon a straight-line basis.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is
charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following; the amount of the initial
measurement of lease liability plus any lease payments made prior to commencement date,
initial direct costs, and estimated costs of restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the lease, less any lease incentives received.
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" BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4 Material accounting policies (continued)
(k) Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and
the lease termon a straight-line basis.

If the Company is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset's useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-
value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-
term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise
IT equipment and small items of office furniture.

When the Company is the lessor, the lease must be classified as either a finance lease or
an operating lease. A finance lease is a lease which confers substantially all the risks and
rewards of the leased assets on the lessee.

An operating lease is a lease where substantially all of the risks and rewards of the leased
asset remain with the lessor.

When the lease is deemed a finance lease, the leased asset is not held on the balance sheet; instead
a finance lease receivable is recognised representing the minimum lease payments receivable under
the terms of the lease, discounted at the rate of interest implicit in the lease. When the lease is
deemed an operating lease, the lease income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the period of
the lease unless another systematic basis is more appropriate

(n Foreign Currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financials are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment inwhich the entity operates (‘the functional currency'). The financial statements are
presented in Rwanda Francs(Frw), which is the company’s functional and presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated using daily average exchange rates as declared
by the NationalBank of Rwanda. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions andfrom the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of comprehensive income
account within'other income.

(c) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financials are measured using the currency of the primary economic

environment inwhich the entity operates (‘the functional currency'). The financial statements are
presented in Rwanda Francs(Frw), which is the company's functional and presentation currency.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4 Material accounting policies (continued)
(d) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financials are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates ('the functional currency'). The financial statements are presented in Rwanda Francs
(Frw), which is the company's functional and presentation currency.

(e)Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated using daily average exchange rates as declared by the National
Bank of Rwanda. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settiement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of comprehensive income account
within ‘other income’,

(m) Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset ar paid or transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value hierarchy gives the
highest priority to quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1
inputs) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 inputs).

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. Unobservable inputs shall be used to
measure fair value to the extent that relevant observable inputs are not available thereby allowing for
situations in which there is little if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement
date. However, the fair value measurement objective remains the same i.e. an exit price at the
measurement date from the perspective of a market participant that holds the asset or owes the
liability.

As Inputs are not available for loans of BRAC, level 3 hierarchy of fair value is used to measure
value for loan at fair value

(n) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and demand and term deposits, with maturities of
three months or less from the date of acquisition, that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4 Material accounting policies (continued)
(o) Share capital, accumulated losses, and capital awaiting allocation

Ordinary shares are classified as share capital in equity. Any premiums received over and above the
par value of the shares is classified as ‘share premium’ in equity.

Accumulated losses reserve or retained earnings reserve is a reserve for the company's losses/profit
carried over.

Capital awaiting allocation is additional cash injected by BRAC International Holdings B. V that is yet
to be allocated to share capital. Share money deposit is recognised when the funds have been
received.

(p) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embadying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made of
the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the reporting date taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation.

(9)  Grants
Grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attached conditions will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an asset, it is recognized as
deferred income and released to income in equal amounts over the expected useful life of the related
asset. When the grant relates to an expense item it is recognized as income over the period
necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.

(u) Comparatives

The accounting policies are consistent with those reported in the previous year except for the adoption
of the standards and amendments effective for the current period as set out note 3 to the financial
statements.

(v) Member savings

The initial relationship between customers and the company is that customers are admitted
as members, and all members are required to make savings. These savings consist of a
mandatory part which is determined by the member's group and is collected at the group’s
weekly meeting. This is the minimum weekly deposit which is meant to encourage a culture
of saving, and members are free to deposit higher amounts at the same group meeting into
the same savings account, and that additional portion is voluntary savings.

Mandatory and voluntary savings can be withdrawn at any time. However, if the client has
taken a loan, they must leave the minimum percentage amount as required per the loan cycle
and loan amount.)

Member savings are recorded when the funds are received from customers.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4

(v)

g)

Material accounting policies (continued)
Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the Functional Currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in profit or loss

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives, which comprise solely forward foreign exchange contracts, are initially recognised at fair
value on the date the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently measured at fair value.
The fair value is determined using forward exchange market rates at the balance sheet date or
appropriate pricing models. The derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair
value of derivatives are recognised immediately in the Statement of comprehensive income.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Company’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on its financial performance, but the
company does not hedge any risks.

The company is faced by liquidity, interest rate, credit and foreign currency risks in regards to its
principal non-derivative financial instruments. The directors review and agree to the policies of
managing these risks. The company does not engage in speculation in the markets and neither does
it trade in derivative financial instruments. The company's main financial instruments are;

e Cash and cash equivalents

¢ Restricted deposits

e Trade and other receivables

e Trade and other payables

¢  Amounts due to and from related parties

The main risk arising from the company's’ financial instruments are liquidity, foreign currency and
credit risk
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
i) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc will encounter difficulty in
meeting obligations from its financial liabilities. BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc's
approach tomanaging liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc reputation.

BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc's management maintains a portfolio of short-term liquid
assets, largely made up of Cash at Bank, to ensure that sufficient liquidity is maintained within BRAC
Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc as a whole. The liquidity position is monitored and regular
liquidity stress testing is conducted under a variety of scenarios covering both normal and more
severe market conditions.

The key measure used by BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc for managing liquidity risk is
the ratio of net liquid assets to deposits from customers. Details of the reported Company ratio of net
liquid assets to deposits from customers at the reporting date and during the reporting year were as
follows:

Liquidity risk is the risk that BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc will encounter difficulty in
meeting obligations from its financial liabilities. BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc's approach
tomanaging liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc reputation.

BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc's management maintains a portfolio of short-term liquid
assets, largely made up of Cash at Bank, to ensure that sufficient liquidity is maintained within BRAC
Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc as a whole. The liquidity position is monitored and regular liquidity
stress testing is conducted under a variety of scenarios covering both normal and more severe market
conditions.

The key measure used by BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc for managing liquidity risk is the
ratio of net liquid assets to deposits from customers. Details of the reported Company ratio of net
liquid assets to deposits from customers at the reporting date and during the reporting year were as

follows:
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
At close of the year 101% 199%
Average for the year 307% 254%
Maximum for the year 591% 362%
Minimum for the year 101% 193%
Minimum statutory requirement 30% 30%
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

i) Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below summarizes BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc's liquidity risk as at 31December
2024, categorized into relevant maturity rankings based on undiscounted cash flows.

Liquidity risk
management

Year ended 31 December 2024

Loans to customers

Other assets
Cash and cash
equivalents

Total

Other liabilities

Related party
payables
Member savings

Term loan
Lease liability

Total

Excess
liquidity/(gap)

On demand less than 3 3-12 months 1-5 years Total
months

Frw Frw Frw Frw
- 4,884,004,038  2,594,831,023 19,195,818  7,498,030,879
- 2,594,575 198,162,140 - 200,756,715
748,989,559 - - - 748,989,559
748,989,559  4,886,598,613 2,792,993,163 19,195,818  8,447,777,153
- 280,999,262 413,775,880 22,938,062 717,713,204
- 57,160,213 43,555,633 - 100,715,846
2,882,869,894 - - - 2,882,869,894
- - 2,212,779,200  2,212,779,200
- 91,822,187 269,744,719 361,566,906
2,882,869,894 338,159,475 549,153,700 2,505,461,981  6,275,645,050
(2,133,880,335)  4,548,439,138  2,243,839,463 (2,486,266,163) 2,172,132,103

The table below summarizes BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc's liquidity risk as at 31December
2023, categorized into relevant maturity rankings based on undiscounted cash flows.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

i) Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity risk On demand Lens e 3 3-12 months 1-5 years Total
management months

Year ended

December Frw
2023

Logns to - 4,585,813,366 55,277,533 39,094,654 4,680,185,553
customers

Other assets - 30,878,697 134,041,689 - 164,920,386
Short term

deposit 500,000,000 500,000,000
Cash and

cash 3,914,101,777 - - - 3,914,101,777
equivalents

Total 3,914,101,777 5,116,692,063 189,319,222 39,094,654 9,259,207,716
Other liabilities - 20,155,522 488,433,608 18,076,505 526,665,635
Related party _ ) )

payables 9,860,250 9,860,250
Member

savings 1,952,558,385 - - - 1,952,558,385
Term loan - 2,022,289,600 3,708,373,554 5,730,663,154
Lease liability - 524,902,562 - - 524,902,562
Total 1,952,558,385 554,918,334  2,510,723,208  3,726,450,059 8,744,649,986
Excess

liquidity/(gap)

ii) Market risk

1,961,543,392

4,561,773,729

(2,321,403,986)

(3,687,355,405)

514,557,730)

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, foreign exchange rates and
credit spreads (not relating to changes in the obligor's / issuer’s credit standing) will affect the company's
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on

risk.

Management of market risk

The company separates its exposure to market risk between trading and non-trading portfolios. Trading
portfolios include positions arising from market making and proprietary position taking, together with
financial assets and liabilities that are managed on a fair value basis.

Interest rate risk is the risk that fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of the changes in the market interest rates. The company's’ exposure to the risk of changes in
market interest rates is minimal since it has no debt obligations with floating interest rates.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

ii) Market risk (continued)

Interest risk sensitivity gap analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, of the company’s loss before tax.

Sensitivity analysis:

Assets

Effect on loss before tax

Effect on loss before tax

Frw usbD
31 December 2024 (+/-) 2% (46,220,557) (34,943)
31 December 2023 (+/-) 2% (66,197,495) (52,374)
Interest risk sensitivity gap analysis
A summary of the company'’s interest rate sensitivity gap is as follows:
Less than 1-3 Months 3-12 1-5
31-Dec-24 1 Month Months Years Total
Frw Frw Frw Frw Frw
Assets
Loans to customers 1,781,025,642 3,102,978,396 2,594,831,023 19,195,818 7,498,030,879
To! Finangial 1,781,025,642 3,102,978,396 2,594,831,023 19,195,818 7,498,030,879

Liabilities

Member savings 54,829,754 237,096,629 638,385,126  1,952,558,385 2,882,869,894
Total Financial 54,829,754 237,096,629 638,385,126  1,952,558,385 2,882,869,894
Liabilities

Total interest 1,726,195,888 2,865,881,767 1,956,445,897 (1,933,362,567) 4,615,160,985
repricing gap

31-Dec-23

Assets

Loans to customers 370,371,653 4,063745745 55,277,533 39,094,654 4,528,489,585
l:?;tz'“a“c'a‘ 370,371,653 4,063,745745  55.277,533 39,094,654 4,528,489,585
Liabilities

Member savings 58,056,205 122,615,427 357,286,911  1,414,599.842 1.952,558,385
Total Financial 58,056,205 122,615427 357,286,911 1414599842 1.952,558,385
Liabilities

Total Interest 312,315,448 3,941,130,318 (302,009,378) (1,375,505,188) 2,575,931,200

repricing gap
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

ii) Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk exposure

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. The board of directors has set limits on foreign currency positions. The foreign
currency positions and revaluations are monitored on daily basis to ensure that positions are
maintained within the established limits.

The amounts below summarize the foreign currency exposure position as at 31 December.

As at 31 December 2024 usoD Total
Assets
Balances with banks 170,362 170,362
Other Receivables 313,306 313,306
Total Assets 483,668 483,668
Liabilities
Term loan 1,600,000 1,600,000
Related party payables 70,951 70,951
Donor grants 109,068 109,068
Other liabilities 16,750 16,750
Total Liabilities 1,796,769 1,796,769
Net financial position (1,313,101) (1,313,101)
Foreign currency risk exposure 31-Dec-24 Effect on profit Effect on profit
before tax before tax
Frw uUsD
Changes in USD +/- 5% ) 90,800,110 65,655
As at 31 December 2023 usD Total
Assets 2,379,492 2,379,492
Balances with banks
Total Assets 2,379,492 2,379,492
Liabilities
Term loan 4,534,000 4,534,000
Related party payables 7,801 7,801
Donor grants 147,530 147,530
Other liabilities 26,002 26,002
Total Liabilities 4,715,333 4,715,333
Net financial position (2,335,841) (2,335,841)
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
ii) Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk exposure (continued)

Foreign currency risk exposure 31-Dec-23 Effect on profit Effect on profit

before tax before tax

Frw usD

Changes in USD +/- 5% 148,145,265 138,361
Price risk

The company does not hold any instruments exposed to price risk.
iii) Credit risk

The company takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will cause a financial
loss to the company by failing to pay amounts in full when due. Credit risk is the most important risk for the
company's business: management therefore carefully manages the exposure to credit risk. Credit
exposures arise principally in lending and investment activities. There is also credit risk in off-balance
sheet financial instruments, such as loan commitments, however as at 31 December 2024 the company
did not have any off balance sheet exposure. Credit risk management and control is monitored by
management, which reports regularly to the Board of Directors.

iii) Credit risk
(a) Loans and advances

The estimation of credit exposure is complex and requires the use of models, as the value of a product
varies with changes in market variables, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment
of credit riskof a portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, of
the associated loss ratios and of default correlations between counterparties.

In measuring credit risk of loan and advances to customers and to banks at a counterparty level, the
Company reflects three components (i) the ‘probability of default’ by the client or counterparty on its
contractual obligations; (i) current exposures to the counterparty and its likely future development, from
which the Company derives the ‘exposure at default’; and (jii) the likely recovery ratio on the defaulted
obligations (the ‘loss given default’).
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)
Probability of default

The company assesses the probability of default of individual counterparties using internal rating tools tailored
to the various categories of counterparty.

For regulatory purposes and for internal monitoring of the quality of the loan portfolio, all the customers are
segmented into five rating classes as shown below:

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly, the Company compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default occurring on
that financial asset as at the date of initial recognition. In doing so, the Company considers reasonable and
supportable information that is indicative of significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition and that
is available without undue cost or effort.

The Company internal ratings scale

Description of the grade Days in arrears  Regulatory rating Company’s ratings
Performing 0-29 1 1
Watch 30-89 2 2
Substandard 90-179 3 3
Doubtful 180 - 365 4 4
Loss Above 366 5 5

Exposure at default

Exposure at default is based on the amounts the Company expects to be owed at the time of default.
For example, for a loan this is the face value. For a commitment, the Company includes any amount
already drawn plus the further amount that may have been drawn by the time of default, should it
occur.

Loss given default

Loss given default or loss severity represents the Company expectation of the extent of loss on a
claim should default occur. It is expressed as percentage loss per unit of exposure. It typically varies
by type of counterparty, type and seniority of claim and availability of collateral or other credit
support.

A. Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements

The financial instruments that present the maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any
collateral held or other credit enhancements are disclosed below.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)

Loans to customers Gross (Note 9)
Cash at Bank
Other assets

Total

B. Credit quality analysis

31-Dec 31-Dec

2024 2023

Frw Frw
7,498,030,879 4,784,414,881
748,324,969 3,912,216,208
200,756,714 164,920,386
8,447,112,562 8,861,551,475

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised
cost. Unless specifically indicated, for financial assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying

amounts.

Explanation of the terms ‘Stage 1', ‘Stage 2' and ‘Stage 3’ is included under Note 2 (h) of the financial

statements.

Maximum exposure to credit risk — financial instruments subject to ECL impairment

31 December 2024

Loans to customers (Gross)
Impairment Loss

Carrying Amount

31 December 2023

Loans to customers (Gross)
Impairment Loss

Carrying Amount

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Frw Frw Frw Frw
7,519,508,390 73,331,388 390,482,183  7,983,321,971
(165,413,208) (29,338,939) (290,538,945) (485,291,092)
7,354,095,182 43,992,449 99,943,248  7,498,030,879

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Frw Frw Frw Frw
4,421,927,836 70,494,618 291,992,427 4,784,414,881
(62,163,725) (11.528,334) (182,233,237)  (255,925,296)
4,359,764,111 58,966,284 109,759,190 4,528,489,585
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
iii) Credit risk (continued)
C. Credit risk management

Other than the change in credit risk rating for certain exposures, there were no other material changes
to the policies and practices for the management of credit risk in 2022. We continued to apply the
requirements of IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ within Credit Risk.

We have established Bank-wide credit risk management and related IFRS 9 processes. We continue
to assess actively the impact of economic developments in key markets on specific customers,
customer segments or portfolios. As credit conditions change, we take mitigating action, including the
revision of risk appetites or limits, adjustment of interest rates and tenors, as appropriate. In addition,
we continue to evaluate the terms under which we provide credit facilities within the context of
individual customer requirements, the quality of the relationship, market practices and our local
regulatory requirements.

Credit risk grading

Microfinances, SEP and Agri- Business uses the National Bank of Rwanda (BNR) credit risk gradings to
reflect its assessment of the probability of default of retail counterparties. The facilities are rated as
either performing, watch, substandard, doubtful or loss, based on the number of days overdue. The
classification criteria are as follows:

Performing

These are credit facilities which are up to date in payments. Where there are no fixed payments,
these arefacilities that are operating within their approval limits and are unexpired.

Watch

These are credit facilities where principal or interest is due and unpaid for 30 days to 89 days, or for
facilities with no fixed payments, the approval limit has been exceeded by 30 days to 89 days, or the
credit line has expired for more than 30 days to 89 days.

Substandard

These are loan balances due for 90 days but less than 180 days. They are also those credit facilities
that display well-defined credit weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation of the debt such as
inadequate cash flowto service the debt, undercapitalized or insufficient working capital, absence of
adequate financial information orsecurity documentation and irregular payment of principal or interest.

Doubtful

These are loan balances that are more than 180 days but less than 365 days overdue. They are also thc
creditfacilities which, in addition to the weaknesses existing in substandard credits, have deteriorated to-
extent that full repayment is unlikely or that realizable security values will be insufficient to cover the
Company exposure.

Loss

These are loans that are more than 365 days overdue. These are also those credit facilities that are
considered uncollectable or which may have some recovery value, but it is not considered practicable nc
desirable to defer write off. They are also accounts classified as "Doubtful” with little or no improvement
over the period it has been classified as such.

The credit grades are calibrated such that the risk of default increases exponentially at each higher risk
grade. Once a facility is classified as substandard, the probability of default reaches 100%.
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-BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC -
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

The table below shows the link between the regulator risk classifications and the IFRS 9 stage
allocation forassets for the Company;

A. Credit risk management

CERTIFICD TRUE copy
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
ili) Credit risk (continued)
C. Credit risk management
Credit risk grading (continued)
Loss
These are loans that are more than 365 days overdue. These are also those credit facilities that are
considered uncollectable or which may have some recovery value, but it is not considered practicable nor
desirable to defer write off. They are also accounts classified as “Doubtful” with little or no improvement ov
the period it has been classified as such.

The credit grades are calibrated such that the risk of default increases exponentially at each higher risk
grade. Once a facility is classified as substandard, the probability of default reaches 100%.

The table below shows the link between the regulator risk classifications and the IFRS 9 stage allocation
forassets for the Company;

National Bank of Rwanda Days past due Stage allocation
Guidelines

Normal 0-29 1
Watch 30-89 2
Sub-standard 90-179 3
Doubtful 180-364 3

Loss QOver 364 or considered uncollectible 3

D. Expected credit loss measurement

IFRS 9 outlines a 'three-stage' medel for impairment based on changes in credit quality since
initial recognition as summarised below:

s A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in 'Stage
1' and has itscredit risk continuously monitored by the Company.

« If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR') since initial recognition is identified, the
financial instrument is moved to 'Stage 2' but is not yet deemed to be credit impaired.
Please refer to note 5.3.1 fora description of how the Company determines when a
significant increase in credit risk has occurred.

e Ifthe financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to 'Stage
3'. Please refer to note 4.e for a description of how the Company defines credit-impaired
and default.

e A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider
forward- looking information. Note 4.e includes an explanation of how the Company has
incorporated this in its ECL models.

e Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are those financial assets that are
credit-impaired on initial recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a lifetime basis
(Stage 3).
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
iii) Credit risk (continued)
C. Credit risk management

Credit risk grading (continued)

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other than purchased
ororiginated credit-impaired financial assets):

Change in credit quality since initial recognition

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
(Initial recognition)

) (Credit-impaired
(Significant increase in credit

: i = assets)
risk since initial recognition)
12-month expected credit Lifetime expected credit Lifetime expected
losses losses credit losses
= = 1
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)

D.1 Significant increase in credit risk

The Company in determining whether the credit risk (i.e. risk of default) on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition considered reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort, including both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis
based on the Company historical experience, expert credit assessment and forward-looking information.

The Company in determining whether the credit risk (i.e. risk of default) on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition considered reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort, including both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis
based on the Company historical experience, expert credit assessment and forward-looking information.

The Company identifies a significant increase in credit risk where

e Exposures have a regulatory risk rating of “WATCH"
e An exposure is greater than 30 days this is in line with the IFRS 9 30 DPD rebuttable presumption;
e an exposure has been restructured in the past due to credit risk related factors or which was NPL
andis now regular (subject to the regulatory cooling off period);or
e by comparing an exposure:
» credit risk quality at the date of reporting; with
» the credit risk quality on initial recognition of the exposure.

The assessment of significant deterioration is key in establishing the point of switching between the
requirement to measure an allowance based on 12-month expected credit losses and one that is based on
lifetime expected credit losses.

The Company in determining whether the credit risk (i.e. risk of default) on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition considered reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort, including both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based
on the Company historical experience, expert credit assessment and forward-looking information.

The Company identifies a significant increase in credit risk where

e exposures have a regulatory risk rating of 'WATCH';

e an exposure is greater than 30 days past due — this is in line with the IFRS 8 30 DPD
rebuttablepresumption;

e an exposure has been restructured in the past due to credit risk related factors or which was NPL and
isnow regular (subject to the regulatory cooling off period); or

e by comparing an exposure:

e credit risk quality at the date of reporting; with

e the credit risk quality on initial recognition of the exposure.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)
D.1 Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (SICR) (continued)

The assessment of significant deterioration is key in establishing the point of switching between the requirement
to measure an allowance based on 12-month expected credit losses and one that is based on lifetime expected
credit losses.

The assessment of significant deterioration is key in establishing the point of switching between the requirement
to measure an allowance based on 12-month expected credit losses and one that is based on lifetime expected
credit losses.

Generally, restructuring is a qualitative indicator of default and credit impairment and expectations of
restructuring are relevant to assessing whether there is a significant increase in credit risk. Following
restructuring, a customer needs to demonstrate consistently good payment behaviour over a period of time
before the exposure is no longer considered to be in default/credit-impaired or the PD is considered to have
decreased such that the loss allowance reverts to being measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs.

The assessment of SICR incorporates forward-looking information and is performed on a regular basis at a
portfolio level for all financial instruments held by the Company. The criteria used to identify SICR are
monitored and reviewed periodically for appropriateness by the independent Credit Risk team.

Backstop

A backstop is applied, and the financial instrument considered to have experienced a significant increase in
credit risk if the borrower is more than 30 days past due on its contractual payments.

The Company has not used the low credit risk exemption for any financial instruments in the year ended 31
December 2024.

D.2 Definition of default and credit-impaired assets

The Company defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with the definition of credit-
impaired, when it meets one or more of the following criteria:

Quantitative criteria
The borrower is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments.

Qualitative criteria
The borrower meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the borrower is in significant financial difficulty.
These are instances where:
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)

D.2 Definition of default and credit-impaired assets

The borrower is in long-term forbearance

The borrower is deceased

The borrower is insolvent

The borrower is in breach of financial covenant(s)

An active market for that financial asset has disappeared because of financial difficulties
Concessions have been made by the lender relating to the borrower's financial difficulty
It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy

The criteria above have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Company and are consistent with
the definition of default used for internal credit risk management purposes. The default definition has been
applied consistently to model the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss given Default
(LGD) throughout the Company expected loss calculations.

An instrument is considered to no longer be in default (i.e. to have cured) when it no longer meets any of the
default criteria for a consecutive period of six months. This period of six months has been determined based
on an analysis which considers the likelihood of a financial instrument returning to default status after cure using
different possible cure definitions.

D.3 Measuring ECL — Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques

The Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is measured on either a 12-month (12M) or Lifetime basis depending on
whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or whether an asset is
considered to be credit-impaired. Expected credit losses are the discounted product of the Probability of
Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), and Loss Given Default (LGD), defined as follows:

The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as per "Definition
of default and credit-impaired" above), either over the next 12 months (12M PD), or over the remaining
lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation. PDs have been developed using empirical data from the start of
operation of BRAC Rwanda

EAD is equal to the outstanding exposure at the reporting date

Loss Given Default (LGD) represents the Company expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted
exposure. LGD varies by type of counterparty, type and seniority of claim and availability of
collateral or other credit support. LGD is expressed as a percentage loss per unit of exposure at the
time of default (EAD). LGD is calculated on a 12-month or lifetime basis, where 12-month LGD is
the percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs in the next 12 months and Lifetime
LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs over the remaining
expectedlifetime of the loan.

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for each future month and for each
individual exposure or collective segment. These three components are multiplied together and

adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e. the exposure has not prepaid or defaulted in an earlier
month).
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
iii) Credit risk (continued)

D.3 Measuring ECL — Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques (continued)

This effectively calculates an ECL for each future month, which is then discounted back to the reporting date
and summed. The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original effective interest rate or an
approximation thereof.

The Lifetime PD is developed by applying a maturity profile to the current 12M PD. The maturity profile looksat
how defaults develop on a portfolio from the point of initial recognition throughout the lifetime of the loans.The
maturity profile is based on historical observed data and is assumed to be the same across all assets within a
portfolio. This is supported by historical analysis.

Forward-looking economic information is also included in determining the 12-month and lifetime PD, EAD and
LGD. These assumptions vary by product type.

The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation — such as how the maturity profile of the PDs and how
collateral values change etc.

D.4 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models

The assessment of SICR and the calculation of ECL both incorporate forward-looking information. The
Company has performed historical analysis and identified the key economic variables impacting credit risk and
expected credit losses for each portfolio.

These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD, EAD and LGD vary by financial instrument,
Expert judgment has also been applied in this process. Forecasts of these economic variables(the "base
economic scenario”).

The impact of these economic variables on the PD, EAD and LGD has been determined by performing
statistical regression analysis to understand the impact changes in these variables have had historically on
default rates and on the components of LGD and EAD.

In addition to the base economic scenario, the Company credit team also provide other possible scenarios
along with scenario weightings. The three scenarios and their attributes are reassessed at each reporting date.
At 31 December 2022, the Company concluded that three scenarios appropriately captured non-linearities.
The scenario weightings are determined by a combination of statistical analysis and expert credit judgement,
taking account of the range of possible outcomes each chosen scenario is representative of. The assessment
of SICR is performed using the Lifetime PD under each of the base, and the other scenarios, multiplied by the
associated scenario weighting, along with qualitative and backstop indicators. This determines whether the
whole financial instrument is in Stage 1, Stage 2, or Stage 3 and hence whether 12-month or lifetimeECL
should be recorded. Following this assessment, the Company measures ECL as either a probability weighted
12-month ECL (Stage 1), or a probability weighted lifetime ECL (Stages 2 and 3). These probability weighted
ECLs are determined by running each scenario through the relevant ECL model and multiplying it by the
appropriate scenario weighting (as opposed to weighting the inputs).
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
iii) Credit risk (continued)

D.4 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models (continued)

Economic variable assumptions
The most significant period-end assumptions used for the ECL estimate as at 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023 are set out below. The scenarios "base”, "upside" and "downside" were used for all portfolios.

Base scenario Upside Downside
Macroeconomi | Next12 | Remaining Next 12 Remaining Next 12 Remaining
cfactors months forecast months forecast months forecast

period period Period
Domestic GDP 6.00% 6.00% 7.3% 7.3% 4.8% 4.8%
Interest rates 6.50% 6.50% 9% 9% | 4.50% 4.50%
Inflation 6.80% 6.80% 7% 7% 6% 6%
The weightings assigned to each economic scenario at 31 December were as follows:
Base Upside Downside
% % %

As at 31 December 2024
Scenario probability weighting 91% 3% 6%
As at 31 December 2023
Scenario probability weighting 85% 5% 10%

The weights of Base and Upside have decreased/increased slightly reflecting the small change in dispersion in
the scenarios. The impact on ECL is immaterial.

D.5 Sensitivity analysis

The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL allowance are as follows:
(i) Collateral haircuts, and
(ii) Period to recovery of collateral

Set out below are the changes to the ECL as at 31 December 2024 that would result from reasonably possible
changes in these parameters from the actual assumptions used in the Company economic variable
assumptions.

Time to realisation: As the type of loan security deposited by the customer is cash, in these arrangements the
director have assumed time to realisation of cash collateral immediately after the loan write off.

Collateral haircuts: The directors have assumed collateral haircuts for cash collateral are negligible due to high
degree of certainty on the value, credit quality and liquidity of the security.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iif) Credit risk (continued)
D.6 Credit exposure
Maximum exposure to credit risk — Financial instruments subject to impairment
The following tables contain an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial instruments for which an ECL
allowance is recognised. The gross carrying amount of financial assets below also represents the Company

maximum exposure to credit risk on these assets.

Loans and advances

2024 2023
ECL staging
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Frw
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
Normal 7,519,508,390 - - 7,519,508,390 4,421,927,836
Watch - 73,331,388 - 73,331,388 70,494,618
Default 5 - 390,482,193 390,482,193 291,992,427
Gross carrying amount  7,519,508,390 73,331,388 390,482,193 7,983,321,971 4,784,414,881
Expected credit loss (165,413,208) (29,338,939) (290,538,945) (485,291,092) (255,925,296)
Carrying amount 7,354,095,182 43,992,449 99,943,248 7,498,030,879 4,528,489,585
Cash at Bank
2024 2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stag 3 Total
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
A 748,324,969 - - 748,324,969 3,305,822,696
A- = - - - -
A+ - = # i ;
AA - - & - &
B - r = - 606,393,512
B+ - - - & =
BB- - - - - -
Expected credit loss - - - - -
Carrying amount 748,324,969 - - 748,324,969 3,912,216,208
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)

D.6 Credit exposure (continued)

Below is a transitional table between stages between 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024:

Gross loans as at 1 January 2024

Transfers from stage 1 to stage 2 and 3
Transfers from stage 2 to stage 1 and 3
Transfers from stage 3 to stage 1 and 2
New loans issued

Subsequent change in loans

Net movement in gross loans

Financial asset derecognised

Gross loans as at 31 December 2024

Gross loans as at 1 January 2023
Transfers from stage 1 to stage 2 and 3
Transfers from stage 2 to stage 1 and 3
Transfers from stage 3 to stage 1 and 2
New exposures disbursed

Subsequent maturities

Net movement in gross loans

Financial asset derecognised

Gross loans as at 31 December 2023

31 December 2024

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Frw 000 Frw 000 Frw 000 FRw 000
4,421,950,237 70,494,618 291,970,026 4,784,414,881

(111,259,853) 216,800 111,043,053 -

12,900 (52,905,950) 52,893,050 -

636,100 - (636,100) -
7,513,070,250 73,114,588 87,402,251 7,673,587,089
(4,303,354,301) (17,487,668) (11,263,059) (4,332,105,028)
3,099,105,096 73,432,388 531,409,221 8,125,896,942
(1,546,943) (101,000)  (140,927,028) (142,574,971)
3,097,558,153 73,331,388 390,482,193 7,983,321,971

31 December 2023

Stage 1 Stage 2
FRw 000 FRw 000
3,233,159,746 134,350,018
(103,132,459) 542,600
691,560 (45,731,170)
1,027,299 -

4,418,514,174 69,952,018
(3,127,449,079) (82,118,795)

Stage 3
FRw 000

136,401,995

102,589,859
45,039,610
(1,027,299)

138,550,371

(41,982,727)

Total
FRw 000

3,503,911,759

4,627,016,563
(3,251,550,601)

4,422,811,241 76,994,671 379,571,809  4,879,377,721
(861,004) (6,500,053) (87,601,783)  (94,962,840)
4,421,950,237 70,494,618 291,970,026 4,784,414,881
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)

D.6 Credit exposure (continued)

Loss allowance as at 1 January 2024

Movements with P&L impact

Transfers from stage 1 to stage 2 and 3
Transfers from stage 2 to stage 1 and 3
Transfers from stage 3 to stage 1 and 2
ECL on new exposure raised
Subsequent changes in ECL

Net movement to profit or loss

Other movements with no P&L impact
Financial asset derecognised

Loss allowance as at 31 December
2024

31 December 2024

Loss allowance as at 1 January 2023
Movements with P&L impact

Transfers from stage 1 to stage 2 and 3
Transfers from stage 2 to stage 1 and 3
Transfers from stage 3 to stage 1 and 2
ECL on new exposure raised
Subsequent changes in ECL

Net movement to profit or loss

Other movements with no P&L impact
Financial asset derecognised

Loss allowance as at 31 December
2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
62,163,725 11,528,334 182,233,237 255,925,296
(81,380,443) 676 81,379,767 -
- (39,740,921) 39,740,921 -
13,324 - (13,324) _
165,289,425 29,338,263 61,623,469 256,251,157
22,230,797 28,276,984 43,361,950 93,869,731
168,316,828 29,403,336 408,326,020 606,046,184
(2,903,620) (64,397) (117,787,075) (120,755,092)
165,413,208 29,338,939 290,538,945 485,291,092
31 December 2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Frw 000 Frw 000 Frw 000 Frw 000
50,269,274 60,459,072 103,308,590 214,036,936
(62,969,330) 3,718 62,965,612 -
10,084 (32,557,494) 32,547,410 =
16,907 - (16,907) -
62,121,722 11,524,616 82,680,200 156,226,538
13,576,072 (21,401,525) (11,549,885)  (19,375,338)
63,024,729 60,459,072 269,835,020 350,888,136
(861,004) (6,500,053) (87,601,783)  (94,962,840)
62,163,725 11,528,334 182,233,237 255,925,296
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
iii) Credit risk (continued)

D.7 Collateral
The table below summarises carrying amounts of collateral held against loans to customers

Carrying Fair value

As at 31- Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 of Net exposure Assocl:ilgt::d
Dec 2024 Amonnt collateral
Frw Frw Frw Frw Frw Frw Frw
Loans to

7.354,095,182 43,992,449 99,943,248 7,498,030,879 1,118,224,809 6,379,806,070 485,291,092
customers

Grand total  7,354,095,182 43,992,449 99,943,248 7,498,030,879 1,118,224,809 6,379,806,070 485,291,092

As at 31-Dec Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Carrying  Fair value Netexposure Ass°°'§§_§_¢'
2023 Amount of collateral

Frw Frw Frw Frw Frw Ervi Frw
Loans to

customers 4,359,764,111 58,966,284 109,759,190 4,528,489,585 721,031,003 3,807,458,582 255,925,296

Grand total 4,359,764,111 58,966,284 109,759,190 4,528,489,585 721,031,003 3,807,458,582 255,925,296
D.8 Write-off policy

The Company writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts
and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include (i) ceasing enforcement activity and (ii) where the Company recovery method is
foreclosing on collateral and the value of the collateral is such that there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering in full.

The Company may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. The outstanding
contractual amounts of such assets written off during the year ended 31 December 2024 was FRw 120,755,092
(2023: FRw 94,962,840). The Company still seeks to recover amounts it is legally owed in full, but which have
been partially written off due to no reasonable expectation of full recovery.

D.9 Modification of financial assets

The Company sometimes modifies the terms of loans provided to customers due to commercial
renegotiations, or for distressed loans, with a view to maximizing recovery.

Such restructuring activities may include extended payment term arrangements, payment holidays and
payment forgiveness. Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria which, in the
judgement of management, indicate that payment will most likely continue. These policies are kept under
continuous review. Restructuring is most commonly applied to term loans.

The risk of default of such assets after modification is assessed at the reporting date and compared with the
risk under the original terms at initial recognition, when the madification is not substantial and so does not
result in derecognition of the original asset. The Company monitors the subsequent performance of modified
assets. The Company may determine that the credit risk has significantly improved after restructuring, so
that the assets are moved from Stage 3 or Stage 2 (Lifetime ECL) to Stage 1 (12-month ECL). This is only the
case for assets which have performed in accordance with the new terms for six consecutive months or more.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)

D.10 Concentration of credit risk

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties or exposures have comparable economic
characteristics, or such counterparties are engaged in similar activities or operate in the same geographical
areas or industry sectors so that their collective ability to meet contractual obligations is uniformly affected by
changes in economic, political or other conditions. We use a number of controls and measures to minimise
undue concentration of exposure in our two client segments. These include portfolio and counterparty limits,

approval and review controls.

The Company monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector. An analysis of concentrations of credit risk at

the reporting date is shown below:

31 December 2024

31 December 2023

FRw’000 % age FRw’000 % age
Group loans 6,118,527,678  76.64% 3,772,422688  78.85%
Small Enterprise loans 1,352,714,583  16.95% 712,704,686 14.90%

Agri Business loans

512,079,710 6.41%

299,287,507 6.25%

Gross loans

7,983,321,971 100%

4,784,414,881 100%

iv) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange exposures in transactional currencies other than the local currency are monitored via
periodic cash flow and budget forecasts and are kept to an acceptable level. The company's
transactionalexposures give rise to foreign currency gains and losses that are recognized in profit or

loss.

31 December 2024

31 December 2023

FRw'000 usb FRw'000 usp
Assets in foreign currencies 668,905,961 483,668 3,032,260,208 2,399,071
Liabilities in foreign currencies 2,484,908,169 1,796,769 5,959,855,554 4,715,333
Net foreign currency exposure
at the end of the year (1,816,002,208) (1,313,101) (2,927,595,346) (2,316,262)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the below mentioned
exchange rates of major transaction currencies, with all other variables held constant, of BRAC Rwanda
Microfinance Company Plc profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets andliabilities).

Currency Increase/decrease in 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
exchange
rate
FRw’000 FRw'000
usD +5% 90,800,110 146,379,767
-5% (90,800,110) (146,379,767)
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

v) Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the
company's’ processes, personnel, technology, and infrastructure and from external factors other than credit,
market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted
standards of corporate behaviour. The company's’ objective is to manage operational risk so as to prevent
damage to its reputation and avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity. The directors have
the responsibility of developing and implementing controls to address operational risks. This is supported by the
company standards for the management of operational risks in;

e Compliance and legal requirements

e Training and professional development

e Ethical and business standards

e Development of contingency plans

e Compliance with legal and regulatory requirements

e Developing requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risk faced and the adequacy
ofcontrols and procedures to address the risks identified.

vi) Capital Management

The company manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern whilemaximizing
the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of the
company consists of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equityholders, comprising issued
capital and retained earnings.

6 Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances are net of charges forimpairment. The estimated fair value of loans and advances represents
the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received. Expected cash flows are
discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.

Fair value hierarchy
The company measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the significance of the
inputs used in making the measurements.

Level 1: Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly (i.e. as prices)or
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active
markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered
less than active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from
market data.

Level 3: Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the valuation technique
includes inputs that are not observable and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument's
valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for
which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the
instruments.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

6 Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued)

All financial assets are held at amortised cost and none at fair value. Therefore, amortised cost approximates

fairvalue.

31 December 2024

Loans to customers
Derivatives at fair value through
profit or loss

Other assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Total

Other liabilities

Donor grant
Term loan

Lease liability

Total

31 December 2023

Loans to customers

Derivatives at fair value through
profit or loss

Other assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Total

Other liabilities

Donor grant
Term loan

Lease liability

Total

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FRW FRW FRW FRW
- 7,498,030,879 - 7,498,030,879
433,297,530 - 433,297,530
- 200,756,715 - 200,756,715
- 748,989,559 - 748,989,559
- 8,881,074,683 - 8,881,074,683
- 717,713,20 - 717,713,204
- 150,839,272 - 150,839,272
- 2,212,779,200 - 2,212,779,200
- 361,566,906 - 361,566,906
- 3,442,898 582 - 3,442,898 582
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FRW FRW FRW FRW
- 4,528,489,585 - 4,528,489,585
919,902,383 - 919,902,383
- 164,920,386 - 164,920,386
3,914,101,777 - 3,914,101,777
9,527,414,131 - 9,527,414,131
- 526,665,635 - 526,665,635
- 209,196,477 - 209,196,477
- 5,730,663,154 - 5,730,663,154
- 517,570,316 - 517,570,316
- 6,984,095,582 - 6,984,095,582,
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~ BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

7 Property and equipment

Year ended 31 December 2024

Cost

As at 1 January 2024
Additions
Disposal

As at 31 December 2024

Depreciation

As at 1 January 2024
Charge for the year
Disposal Adjustment

As at 31 December 2024

Carrying amounts

As at 31 December 2024

Year ended 31 December
2023

Cost

As at 1 January 2023

Additions
Disposal adjustment

As at 31 December 2023

Depreciation
As at 1 January 2023

Charge for the year
Disposal Adjustment

As at 31 December 2023

Carrying amounts
As at 31 December 2023

Furniture

Computer & Equipment &

& Fixtures Peripherals Machineries Vehicles Total
Frw Frw Frw Frw Frw
130,362,550 385,755,722 98,500,500 169,934,051 784,552,823
2,245,000 7,943,887 10,896,500 - 21,085,387
(445,000) (6,990,000) (18,305,000) - (25,740,000)
132,162,550 386,709,609 91,092,000 169,934,051 779,898,210
36,206,490 242,247 280 47,178,201 83,339,106 408,971,077
13,349,902 99,518,425 16,932,396 26,329,800 156,130,523
(175,410) (6,758,418) (12,572,324) - (19,506,152)
49,380,982 335,007,287 51,538,273 109,668,906 545,595,448
82,781,568 51,702,322 39,553,727 60,265,145 234,302,762
Furniture Computer Equipment Vehicles Total
& Fixtures
Frw Frw Frw Frw Frw
121,084,550 347,745,252 81,608,500 104,297,851 654,736,153
9,308,000 48,545,000 16,892,000 65,636,200 140,381,200
(30,000) (10,534,530) - - (10,564,530)
130,362,550 385,755,722 98,500,500 169,934,051 784,552,823
23,233,641 136,279,088 28,199,901 51,549,606 239,262,236
12,984,599 116,012,775 18,978,300 31,789,500 179,765,174
(11,750) (10,044,583) - - (10,056,333)
36,206,490 242,247,280 47,178,201 83,339,106 408,971,077
94,156,060 143,508,442 51,322,299 86,594,945 375,581,746
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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8 Intangible assets
Cost
As at 1 January
Additions

As at 31 December
Amortization

As at 1 January
Charge for the year

As at 31 December
Carrying amounts
As at 31 December

2024 2023

Frw Frw

294 582,793 258,862,355
- 35,720,438
294,582,793 294,582,793
139,681,341 88,073,542
62,429,200 51,607,799
202,110,541 139,681,341
92,472,252 154,901,452

Intangible asset is sbiCloud software, T24 software,Payroll software, and a tab based Digital Field

Application.

9 Loans and advances

Group loans (Microfinance)

Small Enterprises Program (SEP)
Agri-Business

Add: Interest receivable

Less: Loan write off MF

Less: Loan write off SEP
Less: Loan write off Agri-Business

Less: Impairment loss on loans

As at 31 December

2024

Frw
5,987,325,055
1,315,442,826
498,819,360
251,799,904
(52,323,571)

(10,262,393)
(7,479,210)

(485,291,092)

2023

Frw
3,708,222,099
695,209,469
294,041,941
151,695,968
(40,671,477)

(18,758,783)
(5,324,336)

(255,925,296)

7,498,030,879

4,528,489,585

The movement on the loan accounts is analysed as shown below;

Opening balance

Add: Loans disbursement MF

Add: Loans disbursement SEP

Add: Loans disbursement AGRI Business
Less: Loan realization MF

Less: Loan realization SEP

Less: Loan realization Agri Finance

Less: Loan write off MF

Less: Loan write off SEP

Less: Loan write off Agri-Business

Principal outstanding
Add: Interest receivable

Less: Interest receivable - write-off
Less: Impairment loss on loans

556

4,632,718,913 3,420,768,703
14,525,460,000 9,631,390,000
1,830,900,000 1,034,700,000
1,034,050,000 573,430,000
(12,205,685,567) (8,751,484,898)
(1,191,907,860) (777,890,294)
(823,948,245) (433,440,002)
(52,323,571) (40.671.477)
(10,262,393) (18,758,783)
(7,479,210) (5,324,336)

7,731,522,067

4,632,718,913

302,489,822 181,904,212
(50,689,918) (30,208,244)
(485,291,092) (255,925,296)
7,498,030,879 4,528,489,585
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

9 Loans and advances (continued)

The movement on the impairment is shown below:

At 1 January

Add: Charge for the year

Less: Loan write off MF

Less: Loan write off SEP

Less: Loan write off Agri-Business
Less: Interest receivable write-off MF
Less: Interest receivable write-off SEP
Less: Interest receivable write-off AF

10  Other assets

Prepaid medical insurance

Advance to staff-salary, Travel advance & Others
Receivable from FDR Interest

Receivable from Stichting BRAC International
Receivable from BRAC International Holdings BV

11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash in hand
Cash at bank

Short term deposit

Short term deposit

12  Share capital

Balance brought forward
Capitalisation in the year

2024 2023
Frw Frw
255,925,296 214,036,937
350,120,888 136,851,199
(52,323,571) (40,671,477)
(10,262,393) (18,758,783)
(7,479,210) (5,324,336)
(40,391,601) (23,200,871)
(9,151,427) (6,443,868)
(1,146,890) (563,505)
485,291,092 255,925,296
191,204,194 125,426,135
6,961,495 10,703,910
- 4,043,836
2,591,026 -
- 24,746,505
200,756,715 164,920,386
664,590 1,885,569
748,324,969 3,912,216,208
748,989,559 3,914,101,777
- 500,000,000
- 500,000,000
7,412,070,000 4,693,540,000

1,087,930,000

2,718,530,000

850,000 ordinary shares of Rwf 10,000 each

8,500,000,000

7,412,070,000

13  Other capital contribution

At 1 January
Addition
Converted in share capital

3,998,596,000
3,292,987,000
(1,087,930,000)

2,718,530,000
3,998,596,000
(2,718,530,000)

6,203,653,000

3,998,596,000
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

14 Accumulated losses

15

Brought forward losses
Loss for the year

Member savings

Compulsory savings/loan security
Voluntary savings

160ther liabilities

Accrual for salary

Other liabilities

Statutory deductions

Withholding tax payable

Accrual for Social Security Benefit/Self Insurance
Audit fee accrual

17Donor grants

Whole Foods Market Foundation
Opening balance

Grant from whole planet foundation
Utilized grant in the year

Subtotal

BRAC Rwanda NGO

Opening balance

Grant from BRAC Rwanda NGO (UNFPA)
Utilized grant in the year

Subtotal

Mastercard foundation

Opening balance

Grant from Mastercard foundation
Utilized grant in the year
Translation adjustment

Subtotal

57

(9,276,110,577)
(2,311,027,840)

(5,966,235,835)
(3,309,874,742)

(11,587,138,417)

(9,276,110,577)

2024

Frw
1,118,224,809
1,764 ,645,085

2023

Frw
721,031,003
1,231,527,382

2,882,869,894

1,952,558,385

2024 2023

Frw Frw

245,391 1,028,005
544,000,450 276,057,059
121,661,692 120,592,122
2,073,690 90,756,422
24,893,321 18,076,505
24,838,660 20,155,522
717,713,204 526,665,635
2024 2023

Frw Frw

- 102,728,361
531,448,400 -
(383,330,000) (102,728,361)

148,118,400

22,728,972 i
17,067,031 22,728,972
(39.796,003) :
- 22,728,972
186,467,505 382,901,028
807,646,992 536,934,054
(1,008,431,283) (807,022,451)
17,037,658 73,654,874
2,720,872 186,467,505
150,839,272 209,196,477
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

17 Donor grants (continued)

The Whole Foods Market Foundation agreement of 22 November 2019 was for a grant of USD800,000 over 3
years tofund working capital for general microfinance products in all branches throughout the country. The funds
weredisbursed as USD300,000 in year 1 (2020); followed by USD200,000 in year 2 (2021), and finally
USD300,000 in year 3 (2022). The money is to be utilized in providing loans to customers.

The company is required to submit progress reports 25 days after each quarter end stating the progress of the
project and its successes. The company is also required to submit annual financial reports at the end of its
financial year.

The Whole Foods Market Foundation agreement of 13 September 2022 was for a grant of US560,000 over 3
years tofund working capital for Agricultural loan products in 17 branches throughout the country. The funds
weredisbursed as USD160,000 in year 1 (2022); followed by USD200,000 in year 2 (2023), and finally
USD200,000 in year 3 (2024). The money was utilized in providing loans to customers.

The company is required to submit progress reports 25 days after each quarter end stating the progress of the
project and its successes.The company is also required to submit annual financial reports at the end of its
financial year.

The Stichting BRAC International agreement of 13 June 2022,18 April 2023 and 6 May 2024 was for a grant of
Mastercard foundation USD756,616, USD1,107,382 and USD 754,086. Grant was received in 2022
USD756,616,2023 USD457,828 and 2024 USD 608,885 to provide support to young women in Rwanda.

The Stichting BRAC International Rwanda NGO MOU of 17 December 2023 was for a grant of UNFPA RWF
39,796,003 and was received in 2023 Frw 22,728,972 and 2024 Frw 17,067,031 to provide support to young
women in Rwanda.

The company is also required to submit quarterly financial reports 20 calendar days after the end of the calendar
quarter.

18 Term Loan 2024 2023
Frw Frw

Short term loan 2,212,779,200 5,730,663,154
Accrued interest -

2,212,779,200 5,730,663,154

BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc secured a term loan amounting to USD 2 miillion from BRAC
International Finance BV (BIFB.V) in May 2022 for a period of 40 months from the date of disbursement with
grace period of 4 months on the principal facility and paying interest accruing during the grace period on a
quarterly basis. The loan is quoted at the rate of 5.85% fixed US Dollar rate with no expected increase until
maturity. The loan was obtained for facilitating micro-finance lending.

BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc secured a term loan amounting to USD 1.6 million from BRAC
International Finance BV (BIFB.V) in September 2022 for a period of 40 months from the date of
disbursement with grace period of 4 months on the principal facility and paying interest accruing during the
grace period on a quarterly basis. The loan is quoted at the rate of 6.85% fixed US Dollar rate with no
expected increase until maturity. The loan was obtained for facilitating micro-finance lending.

BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc secured a term loan amounting to USD 1.6 million from BRAC
International Finance BV (BIFB.V) in April 2023 for a period of 40 months from the date of disbursement with
grace period of 4 months on the principal facility and paying interest accruing during the grace period on a
quarterly basis. The loan is quoted at the rate of 7.60% fixed US Dollar rate with no expected increase until
maturity. The loan was obtained for facilitating micro-finance lending.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

18  Term Loan (continued) 2024 2023

USD (Fixed) vs. RWF (Fixed) cross currency swap Transaction: Fixing definition for future payments — again,
the standard ISDA definition for USDRWF would be Where "USD/RWF CB avg." means the USD/RWF
arithmetic mean of Buying and Selling exchange rates of RWF against USD, as displayed on the website of
the Central Bank of Rwanda and is expressed as the amount of Rwandan Franc per one United States Dollar,
on that Valuation Date. Reference currency is RWF and Settlement currency is USD.

2024 2023

Frw Frw

Cash and cash equivalents (748,989,559) (3,914,101,777)
Short term loan 2,212,779,200 5,730,663,154
Lease liability 361,566,906 517,570,316
1,825,356,547 2,334,131,693
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

18 Term Loan (continued)

2024
Rwf '000
At start of year 5,730,663,154
Additions during the year -
Interest expense 343,483,905
Interest repayments (343,483,905)
Principal repayments (3,708,373,554)
FC Translation adjustment 190,489,600
Total borrowings 2,212,779,200
Net debt reconciliation Short term Lease liability Cash and Total
loan equivalents
Net debt as at 1 January
2023 3,855,236,678 ZERAMINE  (REEERAERE)  (3,52E638185219
Cash flows 1,875,426,476 247,825,597 (314,160,132) 1,809,091,941
Net debt as at 31
December2023 5,730,663,154 517,570,316 (3,914,101,777) 2,334,131,693
Cash flows (3,517,883,954) (156,003,410) 3,165,112,218 (508,775,146)
i 2,212,779,200 361,566,906 (748,989,559)  1,825,356,547
December 2024
19 Income on loan interest 2024 2023
Frw Frw
Group loans (Microfinance) 1,963,778,020 1,385,366,532
Small Enterprises Program (SEP) 352,448,100 254,949,200
Loan appraisal fee 173,888,600 112,313,864
Agri-business 170,485,847 74,029,737
2,060,608,907 1,826,659,333
20 Interest & other financial expense
Interest on member savings 105,342,600 79,039,700
Mgt Fees Expense to BIFBV 49,553,247 57,562,858
Other financial expenses 311,308,935 422,790,306
Interest on term loan 343,483,905 381,584,185
Interest on lease liability 58,844,199 51,823,784
868,532,886 992,800,833
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

21 Membership and other fees 2024 2023
Frw Frw
Membership fee 32,908,000 30,183,000
Loan application fee 9,037,000 724,000
Sales of passbook 14,184,000 11,902,000
56,129,000 42,809,000
22 Otherincome 2024 2023
Frw Frw
Other income 44,377,006 66,692,362
Bank Interest 22,976,072 41,751,233
63,353,078 108,443,595
23 Net foreign exchange income 2024 2023
Frw Frw
Unrealised foreign exchange loss (212,272,077) 354,720,986
Fair value of SWAP 194,425,572 (27,488,552)
Realized exchange gain 110,730,420 39,784,544
92,883,915 367,016,978
24  Grantincome 2024 2023
Frw Frw
Portion of utilized grant - BRAC NGO 39,796,003 -
Portion of utilized grant -Whole Planet Foundation 383,330,000 102,728,361
Portion of utilized grant -Mastercard Foundation 1,008,431,283 807,022,451
Social performance task force - -
1,431,557,286 909,750,812
25 Expected credit loss 2024 2023
Frw Frw
Loan loss provision expense 350,120,888 136,851,199
350,120,888 136,851,199
31 December 2024 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Frw Frw Frw Frw
Loss allowance 123,556,995 27,398,308 199,165,585 350,120,888
31 December 2023
Loss allowance 43,537,208 1,940,631 91,373,360 136,851,199

WwC Rwanda Limited




BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

26

27

Employee benefits

Salaries

Leave salaries

Social security benefit expense
Staff bonus

Other operating expenses

Utilities
Travel and transportation

International travels AIM

Air tickets & VISA cost
Accommodation (hotel fare)

Staff Perdiem

Wi-Fi, mobile SIM & bill
Maintenance and general expenses
Meals

Bank charges

Medical expenses

Business license & registration
Need Assessment cost/Survey cost
Vehicle maintenance & fuel
Software development & purchase
Digital Field Assistant-AlM
Financial literacy Trn-UNFPA
Financial literacy Trn-AlM

Linkage to financ services-AlM

Staff Trng, trpt, incntv-AIM
Client orientation-AlM

Digital financial literacy-AlM

Market Research: HCD process-AIM
IT change-AIM

Centralization and streamlining of IT systems-AIM

Impact Survey 60 decibels-AlM
Member death benefit

HO logistics expenses

Local staff training cost

Stationary expenses

Data analytics and BI-AIM
Visibility & communication expense
Professional & consultancy fees
Audit fees

e W ek
oCUMERT

L ~a il D
- QRIGINAL

e

5 \
I ¢ 1
~ Limiie \
! RM“F"‘“O‘“ L_'_,_'d_-:—_f".'- ll

62

2024

Frw
2,327,493,248
58,355,545
132,206,181
158,330,903

2023

Frw
2,101,393,095
84,800,235
121,595,479
154,649,356

2,676,385,877

2,462,438,165

2024 2023
Frw Frw
32,309,758 36,514,161
RS 283,472,088
14,198,775 2252511
56,814,746 72,721,186
19,516,228 49,063,860
7.954,783 15,270,072
102,200,082 150,480,503
142,999,157 209,126,265
162,409,122 151,486,594
14,478,198 13,328,607
276,524,527 234,828,732
13,323,860 3,300,000
50,000 6,273,000
22,893,119 17,936,269
13,587,382 145,248,758
372,186,062 205,081,827
39,796,003 -
264,486,789 199,325,918
2,245,000 ]
1,393,200 )
6,625,599 )

. 14,607,200
; 49,639,167
16,264,566 21,379,460
172,019,060 140,119,705
39,584,038 34,501,900
2,970,000 3,330,000
151,969,198 158,987,290
24,109,443 158,709,481
77,966,835 109,440,937
7.924.241 7,109,165
4,487,567 16,276,100
14,876,745 51,727,410
25,296,382 24,155,461
2,336,816,343 2,585,683,727




BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

28

29

Depreciation & amortization

Depreciation expense
Amortization expense
Depreciation of ROU asset

Cash generated from operations

Loss before income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation & amortization
Loan impairment

Foreign exchange gain
Disposal adjustment

Cash flow before changes in working
capital
Changes in working capital:

Decrease in receivables and other current
assets

Increase in loans

Increase in donor grant

(Decrease)/ Increase of related party payables
Increase in deposits

Increase/(decrease) of current liabilities

Net cash used in operations

30. Related party transaction

156,130,523 179,765,174
62,429,200 51,607,799
169,135,969 155,407,563
387,695,692 386,780,536
2024 2023
Frw Frw
(2,311,027,840) (3,309,874,742)
387,695,692 386,780,536
350,120,888 136,851,199
6,233,848 508,197

(1,566,977,412)

(2,785,734,810)

450,768,525 (920,884,023)
(3,319,662,182) (1,306,913,049)
(58,357,206) (276,432,912)
90,855,596 (84,151,475)
930,311,508 537,958,542
191,047,569 84,045,657
(3,282,013,602) (4,752,112,070)

BRAC is 99.9% owned by BRAC international B.V a company incorporated in The Hague, The Netherlands.The
ultimate controlling party is BRAC international. There are other companies that are related to the company

through common shareholdings or common directorships.
Related party balances and the transactions carried out with related parties are set out below:

The movement for the balances above is as shown below:
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

30. Related party transaction (continued)

a) Key management personnel compensation 2024 2023
Frw Frw
Salaries and wages 290,634,667 182,788,919
As at 31 December 290,634,667 182,788,919
b) Directors’ emoluments 2024 2023
Frw Frw
As non-executive 2,402,989 4,717,684
As at 31 December 2,402,989 4,717,684
c) Transactions with related patty
Management Fees 151,969,198 (24,746,505)
Interest on term loan 343,483,905 381,584,185
Mgt Fees Expense to BIFBV 49,553,247 57,562,858
545,006,350 414,400,538
d) Related party payable 2024 2023
Frw Frw
BRAC International Holdings B.V. 96,367,917 -
BRAC International Holdings B.V. Kenya - 3,643,913
Payable to BRAC Bangladesh 4,347,929 4,900,585
Payable to Stichting BRAC International - 1,315,752
As at 31 December 100,715,846 9,860,250
31 Right of Use Asset and Lease liability 2024 2023
Frw Frw
a) Opening balance-Right of use of assets 523,172,312 552,393,406
Additions = =
Modifications (18,887,136) 379,474,233
For the period -Net Movement s =
Accumulated Depreciation of ROU assets (169,135,968) (408,695,327)
335,149,208 523,172,312
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

31

b)

32

Right of Use Asset and Lease liability 2024 2023
Opening balance-Lease liability 517,570,316 269,744,719
Interest on lease liability 58,844,199 51,823,784
Modifications (5,798) 413,006,837
Cash payment (214,841,811) (217,005,024)

361,566,906 517,570,316
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 169,135,968 155,407,563
Interest expense 58,844,199 51,823,784

Derivatives

The Company uses the following derivative instruments for non-hedging purposes which comprise solely
of currency swaps.

Currency swaps held are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another and result in an
economic exchange of currencies. The Company’s credit risk represents the potential cost to replace the
swap contracts if counterparties fail to fulfill their obligation. This risk is monitored on an ongoing basis with
reference to the current fair value, a proportion of the notional amount of the contracts and the liquidity of
the market. To control the level of credit risk taken, the Company assesses counterparties using the same
techniques as for lending activities.

The derivative instruments held become favourable (assets) or unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates relative to their terms. The aggregate contractual or notional amount
of derivative financial instruments on hand, the extent to which the instruments are favourable or
unfavourable, and thus the aggregate fair values of derivative financial assets and liabilities, can fluctuate
significantly from time to time. The derivatives held by the Company are classified as financial assets at
fair value through the profit or loss. The fair values of derivative financial instruments held are set out below:

2024 2023

Frw Frw

Currency swaps assets 2,212,779,200 5,730,663,154
Currency swaps liabilities (1,779,481,670) (6,650,565,537)
433,297,530 919,902,383

THE INAL DOCUMENT ||
iz0..... QN |
o5 IGi R ,

o e /,tp,n 6 ,Q_Q.}_&'_ |I

w RWwanda Linvited




BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

There were no capital commitments as at year end. (2023; None).

33. TAX

As per Law N° 006/2021 of 05/02/2021 on investment promotion and facilitation, the company is exempt
from taxes for five years from the date of registration of 28 September 2018. As such the income tax

expense Nil (2023 Nil) and no deferred taxes have been computed.

34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The company had no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
32. ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY

The ultimate parent company is BRAC international B.V a company incorporated in The Hague, The
Netherlands.

33. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no events after the reporting date that require disclosure in or adjustments to the financial
statementsas at the date of this report. (2024: NONE).
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